

# Call to action: Improving the lives of people with hidradenitis suppurativa (HS) in Germany

June 2024

## Health Policy Partnership

This national summary was developed as part of a project led by The Health Policy Partnership (HPP) with guidance from a multidisciplinary Steering Committee. HPP was commissioned by UCB, which initiated and funded the project. UCB reviewed all outputs, but editorial control lies with the members of the project's Steering Committee. Contributing experts are not paid for their time.

#### About this report

Research, coordination and drafting of this national summary were led by Chris Melson and Jody Tate of The Health Policy Partnership (HPP). HPP is grateful to Professor Falk G. Bechara (International Centre for Hidradenitis Suppurativa/Acne Inversa (ICH), Ruhr-University Bochum, Germany), who was a contributor to this national summary and is also a member of the Steering Committee that has guided the development of a **global-level report** on this topic. HPP is grateful to Mona Ghassemi (person living with HS, Germany), who was interviewed for this national summary.

We would also like to thank the following organisation for its endorsement:



# Call to action: improving the lives of people with hidradenitis suppurativa (HS) in Germany

#### **CONTENTS**

What is hidradenitis suppurativa?	4
HS in Germany	6
What does best-practice care for HS look like?	8
How does HS impact people's lives?	10
Pain has a major effect on people's lives	11
People living with HS often struggle with mental health issues	11
Social life can be affected by HS	11
HS can affect people's ability to work	11
Living with HS can result in personal financial costs	12
What are the policy and system barriers to best-practice care?	13
Low awareness among clinicians is contributing to delays in diagnosis and poor-quality care	14
People living with HS may not have access to the treatment that is most appropriate for them	14
Access to specialist care is inequitable	15
A lack of data on HS in Germany may affect health outcomes	15
There is currently no patient organisation in Germany to support people living with HS	15
Recommendations for policymakers	16
References	18

What is hidradenitis suppurativa?

#### What is hidradenitis suppurativa?

Hidradenitis suppurativa (HS) is a chronic and painful skin condition that can be debilitating. HS, also known as acne inversa, is a skin condition that is thought to affect around 1 in 100 people across the world.1\* It can cause significant physical challenges and lead to severe psychological distress.<sup>2-4</sup> It is an autoinflammatory condition that contributes to inflammation below the surface of the skin.<sup>56</sup> The condition often starts in a person's teenage years and is characterised by recurrent flare-ups of painful nodules which can become abscesses that look like lumps or boils.<sup>78</sup> These abscesses can rupture, resulting in a discharge that may have an unpleasant smell and stain clothing, and can cause scarring on the body, all of which can lead people to feel embarrassed or ashamed.<sup>3 9 10</sup> Over time, inflammation can progress and lead to irreversible damage to the skin. 11 12 People living with HS may also develop draining tunnels under their skin that can connect between nodules, producing blood and discharge. 13 HS is associated with a range of other conditions such as depression, spondyloarthritis (painful chronic arthritis that mainly affects joints in the spine), diabetes and inflammatory bowel disease, meaning that HS can require multidisciplinary care. 14-18

**HS** has a significant impact on people's lives. HS has one of the highest impacts on quality of life among all dermatological conditions. <sup>19</sup> A key driver of the challenges of HS is pain, which is reported by almost all people living with the condition and can make it difficult to carry out everyday activities. <sup>20</sup> <sup>21</sup> HS can have a major effect on almost every part of a person's life, including their personal relationships, work and social life; this ultimately contributes to the condition being highly distressing and affecting mental wellbeing. <sup>22-24</sup>

HS can result in considerable system costs through the loss of productivity and frequent use of high-cost services. The condition often affects people during their most productive years, and can mean people living with HS are more likely than the general population to miss days of work, be unwell at work or be unemployed.<sup>23 25</sup> This means the productivity of the HS population is significantly reduced. Additionally, high-cost settings such as emergency departments and inpatient care around surgery are used more frequently by people living with HS.<sup>26 27</sup> This combination of factors means that HS can lead to significant costs to the health system and wider economy. In Germany, the estimated cost of HS-related loss of productivity alone is approximately €12.6 billion per year.<sup>23</sup>

<sup>\*</sup>Prevalence estimates can vary depending on the methodology used

HS in Germany

#### **HS** in Germany

In Germany, HS is estimated to affect 0.06–0.30% of the population.<sup>28 29</sup> One study looking at the prevalence of HS in Germany found that slightly more men than women were affected. This contrasts with findings in other European countries (where the condition is more prevalent in women) and may be a consequence of the study's methodology.<sup>28</sup>

A number of centres deliver care for HS, with dermatologists playing a central role. Dermatologists diagnose almost 80% of HS cases, followed by primary care physicians and surgeons.<sup>30</sup> People living with HS also primarily see dermatologists for their care but, again, primary care physicians and surgeons can be involved.<sup>31</sup> According to an HS expert interviewed for this report, dermatologists in Germany are trained in surgery and are therefore capable of managing the majority of cases.<sup>32</sup> Treatment for HS depends on how much the condition has progressed, and may include both medical and surgical interventions.<sup>33</sup> There are a number of centres across Germany involved in the diagnosis, treatment and management of HS, although it is difficult to estimate the exact number providing care.<sup>34</sup> Healthcare professionals in these centres deliver care in line with German and European guidelines.<sup>235</sup> Data on HS are currently being collected through the German Hidradenitis Suppurativa Registry.<sup>36</sup>

There is no active national patient association with a specific focus on HS. This may mean people living with the condition in Germany lack access to appropriate support and information.

What does best-practice care for HS look like?

#### What does best-practice care for HS look like?

HS can be a frustrating condition to manage, both for people living with the condition and for the healthcare professionals treating it. While there is currently no cure for HS, its impact can be reduced if people receive best-practice care at every stage (*Figure 1*).

Figure 1. Best-practice HS patient pathway

The process of HS diagnosis should ensure the person feels heard and that they are not blamed for their condition as this risks deterring them from seeking care in future. Diagnosis should involve:

- clinical assessment based on the nature, frequency and location of symptoms<sup>2 15</sup>
- screening for other conditions that are associated with HS, such as obesity, diabetes, depression and Crohn's disease, to better understand the person's complex needs<sup>37</sup>
- establishing whether HS is part of a syndrome

   such as pyoderma gangrenosum, acne and HS
   (PASH) that may require additional care



- a quality-of-life assessment using the Dermatology Life Quality Index (DLQI) to help establish severity (a flare-up may not be at its worst during a clinical assessment; therefore understanding the impact of HS separately from clinical presentation can provide a more accurate picture of severity)
- a healthcare professional with specialist
  HS knowledge, such as a dermatologist,
  to reduce the risk of misdiagnosis.
  Primary care physicians, surgeons,
  gynaecologists and emergency care
  clinicians with specialist HS knowledge
  may also be capable of diagnosing.



Different people may see different results with the same treatment.<sup>38</sup> People living with HS should be involved in decisions around treatment and informed of any potential side effects. Treatment may involve:

 medical treatments such as topical or systemic antibiotics,\* biologic therapies, hormonal therapies, high-dosage oral zinc, corticosteroids, retinoids or

\*Long-term and repeated use of antibiotics should be limited owing to risks of antimicrobial resistance.  $^{\rm 42}$ 

immunosuppressors;<sup>39 40</sup> pain may also be managed using medical treatments such as non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and opioids<sup>2</sup>

- **surgical interventions,**<sup>41</sup> depending on the location and severity of the condition<sup>2 33</sup>
- laser procedures.<sup>39</sup>

Ongoing care should involve management by a multidisciplinary team, led by a dermatologist or primary care physician, and should include:

- other specialists as required, such as a surgeon, psychologist, psychiatrist, wound care specialist, dermatology nurse, gastroenterologist, rheumatologist, gynaecologist, dietitian, cardiologist, endocrinologist, proctologist<sup>39</sup> and pain management specialist<sup>43</sup>
- up-to-date information on current treatments to allow people living with HS to make informed decisions on ongoing treatment



- rapid access to a dermatologist for acute flare-ups that require urgent care
- empowering people to report side effects and concerns from treatment
- clinically validated self-care to manage pain
- a standardised at-home 'rescue pack' that includes corticosteroids (to treat early flare-ups) and is accompanied by clear guidance on how to use them safely
- support from an HS patient organisation.

How does HS impact people's lives?

#### How does HS impact people's lives?

#### Pain has a major effect on people's lives

Pain is very common for people living with HS and presents many challenges. According to a large study in Germany, most people living with HS (83.6%) reported pain.<sup>44</sup> More than a third of people in this study said HS had a very large effect on their quality of life and that this was linked to the intensity of the pain, indicating the significant impact pain has on people's lives.<sup>44</sup>

#### People living with HS often struggle with mental health issues

HS is a distressing condition, and people living with HS often experience mental health issues. Symptoms of HS can have an extensive negative impact on people's lives, leading to significantly higher rates of a range of mental health issues.<sup>33 45</sup>

46 Studies have found that between 19.3% and 38.6% of people living with HS in Germany experienced depression,<sup>47 48</sup> compared with 10% of the general population.<sup>49</sup> One person interviewed for this report said the feeling of not having control of their symptoms contributed to a depressive period.<sup>50</sup>

#### Social life can be affected by HS

**Symptoms of HS can cause people to withdraw from social situations.** HS can make people feel self-conscious and embarrassed about their bodies.<sup>46 50</sup> This, in addition to the social stigma experienced,<sup>51</sup> can lead people to withdraw from socialising and become isolated, resulting in a significant impact on quality of life.<sup>52</sup>

**People living with HS may find intimacy distressing, exacerbating quality-of-life challenges.** Symptoms of HS are likely to have a negative impact on a person's sexual relations, leading to significantly worse quality of life. 46 52 53 One person interviewed for this report said their HS led to intimacy becoming problematic, and this had contributed to conflict in a previous relationship. 50

#### HS can affect people's ability to work

**HS-related pain and depression can result in illness at, or absence from, work – or even unemployment.** Working with HS can be challenging and it is common for people to need time off work owing to their symptoms.<sup>23 54</sup> Pain and depression from HS can make people feel unable to go to work, or may impair them when they work.<sup>23</sup> People living with HS have been found to miss more than three times as many days of work per year than the average German employee.<sup>23</sup> The unemployment rate among people living with HS is approximately two times higher than among the rest of the German population, indicating the extent to which HS can affect people's ability to work.<sup>23</sup> This is likely to lead to financial distress, impact self-worth and ultimately exacerbate mental health challenges. One person interviewed for this report said they had to take five weeks off work to recover from surgery, leading to a backlog of work, which induced a great deal of stress when they returned.<sup>50</sup>

#### Living with HS can result in personal financial costs

**People living with HS face a range of financial pressures.** HS-related employment issues may contribute to financial challenges through the loss or reduction of income. Additionally, people living with HS may need to pay for medicines as well as daily wound care. <sup>55</sup> One person interviewed for this report said that they needed to change their dressings, which they buy themselves, every two hours when they had a flare-up. <sup>50</sup> An international study found that one in six people needed five or more changes to their dressing every day, highlighting the potential financial burden of wound care on people living with HS. <sup>56</sup>



#### Mona's story

Mona was 26 when she first noticed what she thought were pimples in her groin. After a few years they had grown and become very painful, to the point where they were preventing her from being able to sit. This led her to seek emergency care. During this visit, she was told she had HS and required immediate surgery.

'I went to the theatre one evening and just couldn't sit. The next day, I went to the doctor and he said, "You have to go to the emergency room to get surgery, because you could get blood poisoning." This was the first time someone had said it was HS, but they didn't give me any more information or tell me to see a dermatologist.'

Mona struggled to find a doctor who knew how to treat her condition. After searching online she found an HS specialist in Germany, but they were far away from her home.

'The doctors around me just told me I had to use a cream. When they see my scars they just look at them and see that they need to do more, but they don't have any ideas. I feel very alone – I just have contact with the clinic in Berlin and it's so far away from me.'

Mona feels restricted by HS because it affects what she can do and even the clothes she wears.

'It's stressful because you can't do what you want. You have to think about what you wear, and I don't like the clothes that I feel I have to wear.'

She has found it difficult to accept her diagnosis. Despite having symptoms since 2012, she found out only in 2022 that the condition is chronic. This had a significant impact on her mental health.

'I can't accept that I have it. Nobody told me that it was incurable... I searched online and found out it was a chronic condition. It was a shock. I felt like I was in the middle of a hole.'

Mona would like there to be more awareness of HS so people can have better access to care.

'It's very important that HS gets more publicity. There are people with HS who don't know they have it yet.' What are the policy and system barriers to best-practice care?

# What are the policy and system barriers to best-practice care?

#### Low awareness among healthcare professionals is contributing to delays in diagnosis and poor-quality care

There is still a lot of work to do on raising awareness. We aren't seeing every patient and we aren't diagnosing them all correctly.

FALK G. BECHARA
INTERNATIONAL
CENTRE FOR
HIDRADENITIS
SUPPURATIVA/ACNE
INVERSA (ICH),
RUHR-UNIVERSITY
BOCHUM, GERMANY

Low awareness among primary care physicians contributes to unacceptable delays to diagnosis of HS. An HS expert interviewed for this report indicated that, although awareness of HS appears reasonable among dermatologists, awareness among primary care physicians and emergency care clinicians is too low.<sup>32</sup> This leads to slow referral rates as well as long delays in diagnosis.<sup>32</sup> In Germany, it takes an average of 10 years from onset of symptoms for people to receive an HS diagnosis, and people with late diagnosis (over 15 years) experience an average of five misdiagnoses.30 One person interviewed for this report said her local doctor did not know about HS or how to treat her appropriately.<sup>50</sup> Earlier diagnosis and access to treatment - driven by bolstering awareness among dermatologists, primary care physicians and emergency care clinicians may prevent disease progression.31 This could lead to less costly management of the condition and

improvements in the quality of life of people living with HS.31

### People living with HS may not have access to the treatment that is most appropriate for them

There's a huge need for more effective medicines.

FALK G. BECHARA

Many people are dissatisfied with current HS treatments, owing to side effects and low effectiveness. There are still limited treatment options for HS and no treatment is considered uniformly effective or without side effects.<sup>32 57</sup> In a global study, which included German healthcare centres, 45% of people living with HS said they were either dissatisfied or very dissatisfied with current treatment options.<sup>57</sup> Low effectiveness and side effects were the key drivers of dissatisfaction.<sup>57</sup> Additionally, insurance policies may not allow people

to access the treatment they feel could work for them. One person interviewed for this report wanted to receive laser hair removal to help their HS, but it was not covered by their insurance and they could not afford to pay for it themselves.<sup>50</sup>

#### Access to specialist care is inequitable

Specialist care for HS is available, but may not be accessible to everyone who needs it. While there are a number of centres listed as specialists in HS care, they are not evenly distributed across Germany, which may cause inequitable access to highquality care.<sup>34</sup> Additionally, an expert interviewed for this report said that while these centres may be able to deliver HS care, they are not necessarily specialist centres, and there are only a few centres in the country that have a specific focus on HS.<sup>32</sup> It is also not clear whether multidisciplinary care is offered through these centres. A government-funded initiative, the EsmAiL project, is seeking to improve care for HS through the establishment of 'acne inversa centers' (AiZs), which have a specific focus on providing multidisciplinary care and patient education.<sup>58</sup> As part of the EsmAiL project, an evaluation of current care was conducted, which found that only 1.9% of people with HS were very satisfied with the care they were receiving.<sup>59</sup> The evaluation also found that, when compared with standard care, care delivered through AiZs led to better health outcomes, improved quality of life and increased patient satisfaction.<sup>58</sup> This highlights the potential impact of multidisciplinary care and emphasises the need for equitable access across Germany, which could be achieved through the continued roll-out of AiZs throughout the country.

#### A lack of data on HS in Germany may affect health outcomes

There are limited data available on HS in Germany, but a new registry is likely to improve the situation. There is currently a need for comprehensive data on HS in Germany to inform treatment decisions and improve care.<sup>36</sup> The German Hidradenitis Suppurativa Registry was created with the aim of bolstering HS data.<sup>36</sup> This is a promising but recent initiative that currently only involves 11 centres.<sup>60</sup> To ensure that its potential benefit is maximised, the registry should consider an expansion of the number of centres involved.

### There is currently no patient organisation in Germany to support people living with HS

There is no patient organisation for HS in Germany. Patient organisations are crucial for providing support for people living with a condition, along with sharing personal experiences and tips – in the case of HS, this may be particularly beneficial for pain management and wound care. Although some self-help groups exist online, the absence of an official patient organisation for HS in Germany may mean people are less supported. One person interviewed for this report said they feel very alone with their HS.<sup>50</sup> There is a national organisation that supports people living with chronic skin conditions, which may be an option for people living with HS to access support.

# Recommendations for policymakers

#### Recommendations for policymakers

People living with HS in Germany are significantly affected by their condition, with policy barriers preventing them from accessing high-quality care.

To improve the lives of people with HS, policymakers in Germany should consider the following recommendations:

- Roll out HS educational programmes for healthcare professionals focusing on those working in dermatology, primary care and emergency services to increase understanding of the condition, and improve the speed of diagnosis and quality of care.
- Improve access to high-quality HS care through the continued roll-out of AiZs, which focus on delivering multidisciplinary care and patient education.
- Support the effective use of data collected through the German Hidradenitis Suppurativa Registry to improve care and health outcomes.

#### References

- Garg A, Naik HB, Alavi A, et al. 2023. Real-World Findings on the Characteristics and Treatment Exposures of Patients with Hidradenitis Suppurativa from US Claims Data. Dermatol Ther (Heidelb) 13(2): 581-94
- Zouboulis CC, Desai N, Emtestam L, et al. 2015. European S1 guideline for the treatment of hidradenitis suppurativa/acne inversa. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 29(4): 619-44
- Gulliver W, Zouboulis CC, Prens E, et al. 2016. Evidence-based approach to the treatment of hidradenitis suppurativa/acne inversa, based on the European guidelines for hidradenitis suppurativa. Rev Endocr Metab Disord 17(3): 343-51
- Pescitelli L, Ricceri F, Prignano F. 2018. Hidradenitis suppurativa and associated diseases. G Ital Dermatol Venereol 153(3 Suppl 2): 8-17
- Zouboulis CC, Benhadou F, Byrd AS, et al. 2020. What causes hidradenitis suppurativa? — 15 years after. Exp Dermatol 29(12): 1154-70
- Rosi E, Fastame MT, Scandagli I, et al. 2021. Insights into the Pathogenesis of HS and Therapeutical Approaches. Biomedicines: 10.3390/ biomedicines9091168
- Naik HB, Paul M, Cohen SR, et al. 2019. Distribution of Self-reported Hidradenitis Suppurativa Age at Onset. JAMA Dermatol 155(8): 971-73
- Vinkel C, Thomsen SF. 2018. Hidradenitis Suppurativa: Causes, Features, and Current Treatments. J Clin Aesthet Dermatol 11(10): 17-23
- Ingram JR. 2016. Hidradenitis suppurativa: an update. Clin Med 16(1): 70-3
- Wang SC, Wang SC, Sibbald RG, et al. 2015. Hidradenitis Suppurativa: A Frequently Missed Diagnosis, Part 1: A Review of Pathogenesis, Associations, and Clinical Features. Adv Skin Wound Care 28(7): 325-32
- Schneider-Burrus S, Tsaousi A, Barbus S, et al. 2021. Features Associated With Quality of Life Impairment in Hidradenitis Suppurativa Patients. Front Med: 10.3389/ fmed.2021.676241
- Ocker L, Abu Rached N, Seifert C, et al. 2022. Current Medical and Surgical Treatment of Hidradenitis Suppurativa-A Comprehensive Review. J Clin Med: 10.3390/jcm11237240
- Mayo Clinic. Hidradenitis suppurativa. Available from: https://www.mayoclinic.org/diseases-conditions/ hidradenitis-suppurativa/symptoms-causes/syc-20352306 [Accessed 12/02/24]
- Misitzis A, Katoulis A. 2021. Assessing Psychological Interventions for Hidradenitis Suppurativa as a First Step Toward Patient-Centered Practice. Cutis 107(3): 123-24
- Johnston LA, Alhusayen R, Bourcier M, et al. 2022. Practical Guidelines for Managing Patients With Hidradenitis Suppurativa: An Update. J Cutan Med Surg 26(2\_suppl): 2S-24S
- Tzellos T, Zouboulis CC. 2022. Which hidradenitis suppurativa comorbidities should I take into account? Exp Dermatol 31(Suppl 1): 29-32
- Jarcă E, Cojocaru E, Caba B, et al. 2021.
   Multidisciplinary Management of Adolescents with Hidradenitis Suppurativa - Series of Cases and Literature Review. J Multidiscip Healthc 14: 2205-16
- Bertolotti A, Sbidian E, Join-Lambert O, et al. 2021. Guidelines for the management of hidradenitis suppurativa: recommendations supported by the Centre of Evidence of the French Society of Dermatology. Br J Dermatol 184(5): 963-65

- Killasli H, Sartorius K, Emtestam L, et al. 2020. Hidradenitis Suppurativa in Sweden: A Registry-Based Cross-Sectional Study of 13,538 Patients. *Dermatology* 236(4): 281-88
- Matusiak Ł, Szczęch J, Kaaz K, et al. 2018. Clinical Characteristics of Pruritus and Pain in Patients with Hidradenitis Suppurativa. Acta Derm Venereol 98(2): 191-94
- van der Zee HH, van de Bunte M, van Straalen KR.
   2022. Management of mild hidradenitis suppurativa:
   our greatest challenge yet. Br J Dermatol 186(2):
   355-56
- Alavi A, Farzanfar D, Lee RK, et al. 2018. The Contribution of Malodour in Quality of Life of Patients With Hidradenitis Suppurativa. J Cutan Med Surg 22(2): 166-74
- Schneider-Burrus S, Kalus S, Fritz B, et al. 2023. The impact of hidradenitis suppurativa on professional life. Br J Dermatol 188(1): 122-30
- Vekic DA, Cains GD. 2017. Hidradenitis suppurativa Management, comorbidities and monitoring. Aust J Gen Pract 46(8): 584-88
- Dufour DN, Emtestam L, Jemec GB. 2014. Hidradenitis suppurativa: a common and burdensome, yet underrecognised, inflammatory skin disease. *Postgrad Med J* 90(1062): 216-21
- Frings VG, Schöffski O, Goebeler M, et al. 2021.
   Economic analysis of the costs associated with Hidradenitis suppurativa at a German University Hospital. PLoS One: 10.1371/journal.pone.0255560
- Shalom G, Babaev M, Freud T, et al. 2017.
   Demographic and health care service utilization by 4417 patients with hidradenitis suppurativa. J Am Acad Dermatol 77(6): 1047-52
- Kirsten N, Zander N, Augustin M. 2021. Prevalence and cutaneous comorbidities of hidradenitis suppurativa in the German working population. Arch Dermatol Res 313(2): 95-99
- Bechara FG, Tran T, Ploug U, et al. 2023. Healthcare Resource Utilisation and Economic Burden of Hidradenitis Suppurativa in German Patients with Hidradenitis Suppurativa. ISPOR; 12-15 November; Copenhagen
- Kokolakis G, Wolk K, Schneider-Burrus S, et al. 2020. Delayed Diagnosis of Hidradenitis Suppurativa and Its Effect on Patients and Healthcare System. *Dermatol* 236(5): 421-30
- Kirsten N, Petersen J, Hagenström K, et al. 2020.
   Epidemiology of hidradenitis suppurativa in Germany an observational cohort study based on a multisource approach. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 34(1): 174-79
- Bechara F. 2023. Interview with Chris Melson at The Health Policy Partnership [video conference]. 13/06/23
- Scholl L, Schneider-Burrus S, Fritz B, et al. 2023. The impact of surgical interventions on the psychosocial well-being of patients with hidradenitis suppurativa. J Dtsch Dermatol Ges 21(2): 131-39
- Viatris Connect. Overview of acne inversa centers and specialists [translated]. Available from: https://wwwviatrisconnect-de.translate.goog/de-DE/Acne-inversa-Zentren?\_x\_tr\_sl=auto&\_x\_tr\_tl=en&\_x\_tr\_pto=wapp [Accessed 22/04/24]
- Zouboulis CC, Bechara FG, Fritz K, et al. 2012. S1-Leitlinie zur Therapie der Hidradenitis suppurativa/ Acne inversa\* (ICD-10 Ziffer: L73.2)[S1 guideline for the treatment of hidradenitis suppurativa / acne inversa \* (number ICD-10 L73.2)]. J Dtsch Dermatol Ges 10 Suppl 5: S1-31
- HSBest. Welcome to the German Hidradenitis Suppurativa Registry. Available from: https://www. hsbest.org/en/ [Accessed 22/04/24]

- Garg A, Malviya N, Strunk A, et al. 2022. Comorbidity screening in hidradenitis suppurativa: Evidencebased recommendations from the US and Canadian Hidradenitis Suppurativa Foundations. J Am Acad Dermatol 86(5): 1092-101
- Canadian Hidradenitis Suppurativa Foundation. 2022.
   A Guide to Hidradenitis Suppurativa: Living with HS.
   Richmond Hill: Canadian Hidradenitis Suppurativa
   Foundation
- Chiricozzi A, Micali G, Veraldi S. 2019. The patient journey: a voyage from diagnosis to hidradenitis suppurativa multidisciplinary unit. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 33(Suppl 6): 15-20
- Hessam S, Sand M, Meier NM, et al. 2016. Combination of oral zinc gluconate and topical triclosan: An anti-inflammatory treatment modality for initial hidradenitis suppurativa. J Dermatol Sci 84(2): 197-202
- Bechara FG, Podda M, Prens EP, et al. 2021.
   Efficacy and Safety of Adalimumab in Conjunction With Surgery in Moderate to Severe Hidradenitis Suppurativa: The SHARPS Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Surg 156(11): 1001-09
- 42. Fischer AH, Haskin A, Okoye GA. 2017. Patterns of antimicrobial resistance in lesions of hidradenitis suppurativa. *J Am Acad Dermatol* 76(2): 309-13.e2
- Patel ZS, Hoffman LK, Buse DC, et al. 2017. Pain, Psychological Comorbidities, Disability, and Impaired Quality of Life in Hidradenitis Suppurativa [corrected]. Curr Pain Headache Rep: 10.1007/s11916-017-0647-3
- Krajewski PK, Matusiak Ł, von Stebut E, et al. 2021. Pain in Hidradenitis Suppurativa: A Cross-sectional Study of 1,795 Patients. Acta Derm Venereol 101(1): adv00364
- Kofler L, Schweinzer K, Heister M, et al. 2018. Surgical treatment of hidradenitis suppurativa: an analysis of postoperative outcome, cosmetic results and quality of life in 255 patients. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 32(9): 1570-74
- Schneider-Burrus S, Jost A, Peters EMJ, et al. 2018. Association of Hidradenitis Suppurativa With Body Image. JAMA Dermatol 154(4): 447-51
- 47. Kurek A, Johanne Peters EM, Sabat R, et al. 2013. Depression is a frequent co-morbidity in patients with acne inversa. *J Dtsch Dermatol Ges* 11(8): 743-49

- Mavrogiorgou P, Juckel G, Reimelt A, et al. 2021. Psychiatrische Komorbidität bei Hidradenitis suppurativa/Acne inversa. Der Hautarzt 72(5): 426-34
- Bretschneider J, Kuhnert R, Hapke U. 2017. Depressive symptoms among adults in Germany. 2(3): 77-83
- Ghassemi M. 2023. Interview with Chris Melson at The Health Policy Partnership [video conference]. 31/07/23
- Ingram JR, Bettoli V, Espy JI, et al. 2022. Unmet clinical needs and burden of disease in hidradenitis suppurativa: real-world experience from EU5 and US. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 36(9): 1597-605
- Deutsche Gesellschaft für Dermatochirurgie E.V. Acne inversa. Available from: https://dgdc-de. translate.goog/akne-inversa.html?\_x\_tr\_sl=auto&\_x\_tr\_tl=en&\_x\_tr\_pto=wapp [Accessed 22/04/24]
- Kurek A, Peters EMJ, Chanwangpong A, et al. 2012. Profound disturbances of sexual health in patients with acne inversa. J Am Acad Dermatol 67(3): 422-28.e1
- Faverio K, Peitsch WK, Görig T, et al. 2022. Patient Preferences in Hidradenitis Suppurativa (APProach-HS): a discrete choice experiment. J Dtsch Dermatol Ges 20(11): 1441-52
- Esmann S, Jemec GB. 2011. Psychosocial impact of hidradenitis suppurativa: a qualitative study. Acta Derm Venereol 91(3): 328-32
- Moloney S, McGrath BM, Roshan D, et al. 2021. The Personal Impact of Daily Wound Care for Hidradenitis Suppurativa. Dermatol 238(4): 762-71
- Midgette B, Strunk A, Akilov O, et al. 2022. Factors associated with treatment satisfaction in patients with hidradenitis suppurativa: results from the Global VOICE project. Br J Dermatol 187(6): 927-35
- Schultheis M, Staubach P, Nikolakis G, et al. 2023. A centre-based ambulatory care concept for hidradenitis suppurativa improves disease activity, disease burden and patient satisfaction: results from the randomized controlled EsmAiL trial. Br J Dermatol 189(2): 170-79
- Schultheis M, Grabbe S, Staubach P, et al. 2023.
   Clinical Features of Persons Suffering from Acne Inversa. Dtsch Arztebl Int 120(19): 345-46
- HSBest. Founding centers. Available from: https:// www.hsbest.org/en/team/founding-centers [Accessed 22/04/24]

